#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 1 2 LAMAR ANTWAN HARRIS, No.: 70679 Petitioner, Electronically Filed Nov 29 2016 10:58 a.m. -vs-Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court STATE OF NEVADA, Respondent. 3 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF** 4 5 Matthew D. Carling Steven B. Wolfson 6 Clark County District Attorney 1100 S. Tenth Street 7 200 Lewis Avenue Las Vegas, NV 89101 8 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 419-7330 (Office) 9 Counsel for Respondent (702) 446-8065 (Fax) 10 Attorney for Appellant 11 12 Adam Paul Laxalt 13 **Attorney General** 14 100 North Carson Street 15 Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 16 Counsel for Respondent 17 18 19 20 21 22 23

###

### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

NRAP 3, 3C, and 4 provide this Court with jurisdiction over this appeal from the *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order* the (the "**Dismissal Order**") entered on June 6, 2016 (attached as Addendum "A"), wherein the *Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)* (collectively the "**Petitions**") filed by Lamar Antwan Harris ("**Harris**") was denied by the Honorable Carolyn Ellsworth, District Judge.

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING HARRIS' PETITIONS FOR HABEAS RELIEF BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH "GOOD CAUSE" TO EXCUSE THE TIME BAR CONTAINED IN NRS 34.726(1).

WERE PROCEDURALLY DEFAULTED.

II.

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING HARRIS' OTHER

ISSUES IN THE PETITIONS LACKED MERIT AND/OR

Harris was convicted of Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm. Harris retained Leslie Park ("Park") to represent him on his direct appeal challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence and ineffective assistance of trial counsel. The appellate court indicated Park had

misinterpreted case law, noted that ineffectiveness claims needed to be raise by habeas corpus proceedings, and affirmed the conviction. Harris retained Park for filing a petition for writ of habeas corpus. Park prepared a petition and certificate of service, which she signed, dated and sent to Harris, a copy of which was provided to the trial court in these proceedings below. Harris assumed the petition had been filed with the district court. After receiving no response over the next six (6) months regarding the alleged filing of his petition, Harris investigated and learned that Park mistakenly filed the petition in the appellate court. He immediately informed Park, who indicated she would refile the petition in the proper court. Several months passed with Harris awaiting word on any response to his petition—Park had not contacted him and had refused to take his pre-paid non-collect calls or respond to his written correspondence. The one-year deadline contained in NRS 34.726(1) for petitions for writ of habeas corpus passed with Harris believing he had met such deadline. Harris did not know Park had not refiled the petition in the district court and let the time bar expire.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Harris filed his pro se Petition on March 11, 2015, after the one-year deadline set forth in NRS 34.726(1). Counsel herein was appointed and raised the challenge in a supplemental petition that counsel's ineffectiveness could reach the "good cause" standard to excuse the procedural bar contained in NRS

34.726(1). Harris argued Park's ineffectiveness constituted an impediment external to Harris that prevented him from complying with the time bar.

In addition to arguing the time bar issue, Harris raised a challenge to his trial counsel's performance for failing to excuse a juror who personally knew one of the witnesses. Harris additionally challenged that trial counsel and/or appellate counsel were ineffective for failing to constitutionally challenge the prosecution's request to elicit speculative and unsupported testimony regarding out-of-court intimidation towards the witnesses.

The Dismissal Order entered on June 6, 2016, wherein the Petitions filed by Harris were denied by the Honorable Carolyn Ellsworth, District Judge. The district court denied the Petitions indicating Harris had failed to establish an impediment external to the defense, and his Petitions were without merit. APP886.

### STATEMENT OF CASE

On May 2, 2011, a *Criminal Complaint* was filed in the justice court where Harris was charged with one count of Attempt Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon, a felony; and one count of Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm, a felony. APP5. On May 25, 2011, during an initial arraignment, Harris was advised of the charges pending

before him, waived the reading of the *Criminal Complaint*, and a preliminary hearing was scheduled. APP4.

On June 22, 2011, a preliminary hearing was held, during which the justice court found that the State had met their burden and Harris was bound-over to the district court as charged. APP3. On June 24, 2011, the State filed an *Information* charging Harris with one count of Attempt Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon, a felony; and one count of Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm, a felony. APP20-21.

On August 19, 2011, the State filed a *Notice of Motion and Motion to Admit Testimony*, in which the State requested that the court admit prior preliminary testimony for those subpoenaed witnesses who failed to appear at trial given that the State could establish a good faith effort to locate those said witnesses. APP93-97. On August 25, 2011, Bret Whipple ("Whipple"), counsel for Harris, filed the *Defendants Opposition to State's Motion to Admit Prior Testimony* wherein Harris argued that the State had failed to establish a good faith effort in determining any witnesses to be unavailable. APP107-111. Also on August 25, 2011, the State filed *Material Witness Warrants* to secure the presence of the witnesses Michael Thomas ("Thomas") and Tamara Kasper ("Kasper"). APP113-139. The *Material Witness Warrants* were approved and signed by the court. *Id.* 

The State filed thirty-four (34) jury instructions on September 1, 2011. APP141-171. The verdict form was filed on September 2, 2011, which indicated that juror members found Harris guilty of Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm. APP179. The Judgment of Conviction was filed on December 2, 2011, which indicated that Harris had been sentenced to the Nevada Department of Corrections to serve a maximum of one hundred seventy-five (175) months with a minimum parole eligibility off seventy (70) months; with one hundred eighty-two (182) days credit for time served for his conviction of Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm. APP181. Additionally, Harris was ordered to pay an administrative assessment fee in the amount of twentyfive (\$25) dollars, and a DNA analysis fee in the amount of one hundred fifty (\$150) dollars. *Id*.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

On December 8, 2011, Whipple filed a *Substitution of Counsel* indicating that Whipple had been replaced by Leslie Park ("**Park**") as counsel of record for Harris' direct appeal. APP182. On December 28, 2011, Park filed an *Affidavit of Financial Condition* and accompanying *Ex Parte Motion for Authorization of Payment of Fees for Trial Transcripts* requesting authorization for payment of fees for trial transcripts as Harris is indigent and unable to pay for the transcripts. APP183-188. On March 14, 2012, the district court signed

the *Ex Parte Order Granting Payment of Fees for Trial Transcript* authorizing Harris to request transcripts at the state's expense. APP190.

On July 5, 2012, the *Criminal Order to Statistically Close Case* was filed, in which the clerk of the court was directed to statistically close Harris' case for the reason of a conviction obtained at trial. APP715. The Nevada Supreme Court issued its *Order of Affirmance* on December 13, 2012. On January 22, 2013, the Court then issued its *Remittitur*. APP720.

On January 20, 2015, Harris filed a *Motion to Withdraw Counsel* requesting that he be granted permission to withdraw Park as present counsel. APP721. On March 11, 2015, Harris filed his pro se Petition alleging ineffective assistance of counsel in the untimely filing of such petition, together with other challenges to trial counsel's ineffectiveness was. APP727. Also on March 11, 2015, Harris filed his *Ex Parte Motion for Appointment of Counsel* and Request for Evidentiary Hearing, wherein he sought for the appointment of counsel to help him "factually develop and adequately present his claims." APP737-738.

On March 19, 2015, the court filed its *Order for Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus*, indicating that the court had reviewed the petition and ordered the State to respond within forty-five (45) days. APP815. On April 4, 2015, the court granted Harris' motion for permission to withdraw Park. APP817.

On May 8, 2015, the State filed their *Response to Defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) and Motion for Appointment of Counsel and Request for Evidentiary Hearing*, arguing that pursuant to NRS 34.726, Harris' petition is time barred and should be dismissed. APP821. The State also argued that Harris failed to establish good cause to overcome the time bar and that Harris failed to demonstrate prejudice. APP822-826. The State further argued that Harris was not entitled to appointment of counsel in post-conviction proceedings. APP826.

The court filed an *Order of Appointment* on June 24, 2015, ordering that Matthew Carling ("Carling") be appointed to represent Harris. APP830. On June 27, 2015, Carling filed a *Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus* (*Post-Conviction*) (the "Supplement") arguing that Park's ineffectiveness provided a substantial reason for "good cause" to excuse the procedural default and that his Petitions should not be time barred. APP841-855. The Supplement further argued that trial counsel was ineffective for having failed to excuse a juror who personally knew one of the witnesses, and that trial counsel and/or appellate counsel were ineffective for failing to constitutionally challenge the prosecution's request to elicit speculative and unsupported testimony regarding out-of-court intimidation towards the witnesses. *Id*.

On August 12, 2015, the State filed its Response to Defendant's Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction), arguing Harris' Petitions were time barred and should be dismissed. APP856. The State argued that an impediment external can be based on a factual or legal basis not being available to counsel or some interference by officials that made compliance impracticable. APP0859. The State argued "any delay in filing must not be the fault of the defense." *Id.* The State's position was that, since Harris did not have a right to effective assistance of counsel in post-conviction proceedings, he cannot complain of errors made by his retained counsel during or at the inception of them. It stated, "the actions of post-conviction counsel simply cannot form the basis for" the "good cause" to excuse the procedural bar. The State faulted Harris for not following up to verify the filing. APP0860. As to his other claims, the State argued that they were without merit since Park's misinterpretation of case law on the appeal caused no prejudice because the appeal found there was sufficient evidence to support the verdict. APP0862. The State argued that a prospective juror's familiarity with a witness does not require excusing that juror where the juror unequivocally states they will remain impartial. Id.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Harris filed his *Petitioners Reply on Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)* on September 9, 2015. APP865. Harris

argued therein that Park's failure to file the petition timely in the correct court was not being raised under an ineffectiveness analysis for purpose of habeas relief, but rather only under a "good cause" analysis for purpose of excusing the time bar—two separate and distinct analyses. Harris was not attempting to stack petitions, as is discouraged by precedent under *Brown* to avoid contravening the single post-conviction allowance, but only to have his *first* petition heard. Harris noted that the court had bifurcated the time bar issue from the others and so Harris had presented other issues only for the purpose of evidencing prejudice in denying the issue to excuse the time bar. Harris anticipated further briefing on those issues and the ones raised in Harris' pro se Petition if the time bar was excused. APP 0872-3.

On September 19, 2015, Harris filed his *Notice of Motion and Motion for Reconsideration of Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)* arguing that the evidence respecting the time bar was not contained in the record and thus not belied by the record. APP878;APP882. Harris argued that an evidentiary hearing was required to place the matters on the record. APP882. For this reason, Harris sought reconsideration affording Harris an evidentiary hearing prior to determination.

The State's Response to Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration of Denial of his Post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was filed on October 2, 2015, arguing that Harris was attempting to "judge shop" because a senior judge had entered the Dismissal and another district judge would have to hear the reconsideration. APP890-1. The State argued no new evidence was raised warranting reconsideration. *Id.* The response argued that Harris had not proven he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing or relief on the factual allegations he raised. APP892.

Harris filed his *Reply to State's Response to Motion for Reconsideration* of Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) on October 12, 2015. APP895. Harris argued that he was unaware until he appeared that a senior judge would be sitting on the case, and it was apparent that such senior judge had not read the reply on the Petitions since the judge did not articulate any reasoning pertaining to the novel "impediment external to the defense" theory raised by Harris to allow counsel's errors to rise to "good cause" to excuse the time bar. Harris argued that the issues raised were not belied by the record, remained outside the record, and thus required an evidentiary hearing. APP897.

An evidentiary hearing was held December 8, 2015, on the Petitions. Thereafter, the *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on Defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus* (previously defined as the Dismissal Order *supra*) was filed and signed by district court judge Carolyn Ellsworth on June 6,

2016, granting the State's request to dismiss Harris' petition and the writ The Dismissal Order concluded that Harris discharged. APP911-918. maintained "no constitutional or statutory right to counsel in his post-conviction proceeding," citing Brown v. McDaniel, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 60, 331 P.3d 867, 870 (Nev. 2014). APP917. In paragraph 54, the Dismissal Order quotes McKague v. Whitley stating "[w]here there is no right to counsel there can be no deprivation of effective assistance of counsel." *Ibid.*, 112 Nev. 159, 164-65, 912 P.2d 255, 258 (1996) It then interpreted this law to conclude that Harris was "precluded from relying upon a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel to show good cause to excuse the procedural default of his Pro Per Petition." APP917. The Dismissal Order continued that Harris had "not presented any other impediment external to the defense for a finding of good cause." It further found that the other claims "were available to [Harris] at the time the remittitur issued and are thus procedurally defaulted themselves." APP917.

On June 22, 2016, Harris filed his timely *Notice of Appeal* to the Nevada Supreme Court from the Dismissal Order. APP923. The *Case Appeal Statement* was filed on June 22, 2016. APP926.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## A. Preliminary Hearing – June 22, 2011

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

On June 22, 2011, Harris was before the justice court for a preliminary hearing. APP35. The State called Kasper as their first witness. *Id*.

### 1. <u>Direct-examination of Kasper</u>

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

On April 25, 2011, Kasper was at the Seven Seas bar having a drink with friends. APP36. While at the Seven Seas bar, Kasper witnessed an altercation occur when Darnella Lay ("**Darnella**") attempted to get past Harris. *Id.* Kasper could not re-call informing officers in her initial statement that Harris had punched Darnella several times in the face. APP37. Kasper knew who Harris was; however, she did not know him on a personal level. *Id.* Kasper could not re-call her statement to police about where she first the knife nor that she so an individual get stabbed. *Id.* Kasper held a towel on the victim's chest after he was stabbed. APP38. Kasper identified the photograph's marked as State's Exhibit 1 and 2, as the male she knew as Thomas. APP39. Kasper identified that she observed the stab wound to Thomas' chest on Exhibit 1. *Id.* Kasper did not recognize the stab wound to Thomas' face in Exhibit 2. Id. The State moved to admit Exhibit 1. Id. Whipple requested that he be allowed to vior dire Kasper. Id.

### 2. <u>Vior Dire of Kasper by Whipple</u>

Kasper verified that she observed the stab wound contained in the photo on Exhibit 1. *Id.* Kasper testified that she did not know how the stab wound had occurred or who had caused the wound. *Id.* Whipple objected to the

admission of Exhibit 1 based upon foundation. *Id.* The justice court admitted Exhibit 1. *Id.* 

### 3. Direct-examination of Kasper continued

Kasper did not re-call informing officers in her statement whether Thomas had a weapon. *Id.* Kasper did not witness the stabbing that occurred outside of the Seven Seas. *Id.* Kasper could re-call giving the police a statement; however, she could not whether it was taped or what she had said. *Id.* Kasper could not re-call the photo line-up where she identified Harris marked as State's Exhibit 3. APP40.

### 4. Cross-examination of Kasper

Kasper verified that she did not observe what occurred outside. APP41. Kasper testified that the only way she would have gained her information was from what she had heard other people say. APP42. Kasper testified that when she wrote the statement on her photo line-up she was going off what she had heard. *Id*.

### 5. Re-directed examination of Kasper

At the time her statement was given, Kasper did not tell the police her statement was based on what she had heard from others. *Id.* The State called Darnella as their next witness. *Id.* The State requested that the exclusionary rule be invoked based upon the fact that Darnella was scared to testify. *Id.* The justice court denied the State's motion to invoke the exclusionary rule. APP43.

#### 6. Direct-examination of Darnella

On April 25, 2011, Darnella was at the Seven Seas bar when she got into a fight with another girl over the girl's boyfriend. APP44. Darnella pushed Harris and the other girl while attempting to get her purse. *Id.* Harris then pushed Darnella over a bar stool. *Id.* Darnella got up and hit Harris. *Id.* Harris' girlfriend then threw a Heineken bottle at Darnella, which did not hit her. *Id.* Darnella and the other girl met outside and started fighting. APP45. While Darnella was fighting with the other girl, Harris hit her. *Id.* 

Darnella saw Thomas at the Seven Seas bar and knew Thomas, as a friend of her father's. *Id.* When Darnella was still inside the bar, Thomas stepped in between her and Harris. *Id.* After the fight was over outside, Darnella saw Thomas hold his chest. *Id.* Darnella testified that she did not know how Thomas got the injury to his chest. *Id.* During her initial statement to the police, Darnella informed them that she thought she saw Harris with a weapon, a knife. APP46-47.

### 7. Cross-examination of Darnella

Darnella testified that she felt like she was being pressured by several people including the detective. APP47.

### 8. Re-direct examination of Darnella

Darnella testified that she referred to being pressured because she felt that if she did not say the right thing, she would go to jail. APP48. Darnella testified

that she had been told if she did not testify, she would go to jail until she did testify. *Id.* The State next called Detective Michael Fletcher ("**Fletcher**") as their next witness. *Id.* 

### 9. <u>Direct-examination of Fletcher</u>

Fletcher was employed with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department. *Id.* On April 25, 2011, Fletcher was assigned to investigate a stabbing that had occurred at the Seven Seas bar. *Id.* Fletcher interviewed Thomas at the hospital. *Id.* While interviewing Thomas, Fletcher observed an injury to his face and chest. APP49. Throughout the course of the investigation, Fletcher determined that Harris was a suspect. *Id.* Fletcher presented photo line-ups to several witnesses. *Id.* Fletcher identified State Exhibit 5 as the transcript for the interview with Kasper. *Id.* The State moved for the admission of Exhibit 5. *Id.* Whipple's request to voir dire Fletcher was granted. *Id.* 

### 10. Voir Dire of Fletcher by Whipple

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