IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Elec

Electronically Filed Dec 28 2016 11:05 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

LAMAR ANTWAN HARRIS,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 70679

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

MATTHEW D. CARLING, ESQ. Nevada Bar #007302 1100 S. Tenth Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 419-7330 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court properly denied Harris' Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. In the first place, Harris' habeas petition was untimely pursuant to NRS 34.726(1), and his attempt to establish good cause by arguing ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel fails because he has no right to post-conviction counsel. Secondly, Harris failed to establish that the dismissal of his habeas petition as untimely has unduly prejudiced him because neither of the underlying ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claims he raises is meritorious.

ARGUMENT

This Court gives deference to a district court's factual findings in habeas matters but reviews the court's application of the law to those facts de novo. State v. Huebler, 128 Nev. ____, ___, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013).

The mandatory provision of NRS 34.726(1) states:

Unless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year after entry of the judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur. For the purposes of this subsection, good cause for delay exists if the petitioner demonstrates to the satisfaction of the court:

- (a) That the delay is not the fault of the petitioner; and
- (b) That dismissal of the petition as untimely will unduly prejudice the petitioner.

(emphasis added). "[T]he statutory rules regarding procedural default are mandatory and cannot be ignored when properly raised by the State." <u>State v. Dist.</u> Court (Riker), 121 Nev. 225, 233, 112 P.3d 1070, 1075 (2005).

The one-year time bar prescribed by NRS 34.726 begins to run from the date the judgment of conviction is filed or a remittitur from a timely direct appeal is filed. <u>Dickerson v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 1084, 1087, 967 P.2d 1132, 1133–34 (1998); <u>see Pellegrini v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 860, 873, 34 P.3d 519, 528 (2001) (holding that NRS 34.726 should be construed by its plain meaning).

In <u>Gonzales v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 590, 593, 590 P.3d 901, 902 (2002), the Nevada Supreme Court rejected a habeas petition that was filed two days late, pursuant to the "clear and unambiguous" mandatory provisions of NRS 34.726(1). <u>Gonzales</u> reiterated the importance of filing the petition within the one-year mandate, absent a showing of "good cause" for the delay in filing. Gonzales, 118, Nev. at 593, 590

P.3d at 902. The one-year time bar is therefore strictly construed. In contrast with the short amount of time to file a notice of appeal, a prisoner has a full year to file a post-conviction habeas petition, so there is no injustice in a strict application of NRS 34.726(1). <u>Id.</u> at 595, 53 P.3d at 903.

Remittitur from the direct appeal issued on January 9, 2013. 3 AA 720. Therefore, Appellant had until January 9, 2014, to file a habeas petition. Unfortunately, Appellant did not file his pleading until March 11, 2015. 3 AA 727. As such, the District Court was required to dismiss the petition unless Appellant could establish both good cause and prejudice. NRS 34.726(1)(a)-(b).

I. Harris' Claim Of Ineffective Assistance Of Post-Conviction Counsel Is Insufficient To Establish Good Cause Under NRS 34.726(1) Because Harris Has No Right To Post-Conviction Counsel.

The alleged ineffectiveness of purported post-conviction counsel cannot establish good cause to ignore Appellant's procedural default.

"To establish good cause, appellants must show that an impediment external to the defense prevented their compliance with the applicable procedural rule." Clem v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525 (2003); see Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 251, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003); Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 887, 34 P.3d at 537. Such an external impediment could be "that the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available to counsel, or that 'some interference by officials' made compliance impracticable." Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 251, 71 P.3d at

506 (quoting <u>Murray v. Carrier</u>, 477 U.S. 478, 488, 106 S. Ct. 2639, 2645 (1986)); see also <u>Gonzales</u>, 118 Nev. at 595, 53 P.3d at 904 (citing <u>Harris v. Warden</u>, 114 Nev. 956, 959-60 n.4, 964 P.2d 785, 787 n.4 (1998)). However, any delay in filing of the petition *must not* be the fault of the petitioner. NRS 34.726(1)(a).

Further, "[a petitioner] cannot attempt to manufacture good cause." <u>Clem</u>, 119 Nev. at 621, 81 P.3d at 526. To find good cause there must be a "substantial reason; one that affords a legal excuse." <u>Hathaway</u>, 119 Nev. at 251, 71 P.3d at 506; (quoting <u>Colley v. Warden</u>, 105 Nev. 235, 236, 773 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1989)). Excuses such as the lack of assistance of counsel when preparing a petition, as well as the failure of trial counsel to forward a copy of the file to a petitioner have been found not to constitute good cause. <u>Phelps</u>, 104 Nev. at 660, 764 P.2d at 1306; Hood v. State, 111 Nev. 335, 890 P.2d 797 (1995).

The Nevada Supreme Court has consistently held that there is no right to effective assistance of post-conviction counsel for noncapital prisoners. Brown v. McDaniel, 130 Nev. ____, ___, 331 P.3d 867, 870 (2014); McKague v. Warden, 112 Nev. 159, 163-65, 912 P.2d 255, 257-58 (1996). In Brown, the petitioner asserted "that the ineffective assistance of his prior post-conviction counsel provide[d] cause and prejudice to excuse his failure to comply with Nevada's procedural rules governing post-conviction habeas petitions." 130 Nev. at ____, 331 P.3d at 870. In reiterating that a claim of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel does not

constitute good cause for overcoming the post-conviction procedural bars, the Nevada Supreme Court reasoned that "there is no constitutional or statutory right to the assistance of counsel in noncapital post-conviction proceedings, and where there is no right to counsel there can be no deprivation of effective assistance of counsel." Id. (internal quotations and citations omitted); see also Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 887-888, 34 P.3d 519, 537-538 (2001) (" 'Where there is no right to counsel there can be no deprivation of effective assistance of counsel and hence, 'good cause' cannot be shown based on an ineffectiveness of post-conviction counsel claim.'" (quoting McKague, 112 Nev. at 164-65, 912 P.2d at 258)).

In its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order denying Harris' Petition, the District Court properly relied on <u>Brown</u> in rejecting Harris' attempt to establish good cause by arguing that his post-conviction counsel's ineffectiveness led to the untimely filing. 4 AA 917. The District Court held, consistent with the legal standard discussed above, that Harris "has no constitutional or statutory right to counsel in his post-conviction proceeding" and is therefore "precluded from relying upon a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel to show good cause to excuse the procedural default of his Pro Per Petition." <u>Id.</u> Harris, however, argues that the District Court "misinterpreted the position" in <u>Brown</u>. According to Harris, <u>Brown</u> applies only in context of successive petitions. Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB") at 36 ("<u>Brown</u>'s holdings pertained to the procedural bar of a second post-

conviction petition filed on first post-conviction counsel's alleged ineffectiveness after conclusion of those proceedings."); <u>id.</u> at 43 ("The Dismissal Motion misinterpreted the position in <u>Brown v. McDaniel</u>, which never intended to apply to situations like Harris'. <u>Brown</u> barred habeas corpus petition stacking—filing a second petition on fully litigated grounds of ineffectiveness in the first petition."). In other words, Harris believes that <u>Brown</u> would only preclude his ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim had he been seeking to overcome the procedural bar set out in NRS 34.810(2). Such an argument is belied by the plain text of <u>Brown</u>.

In <u>Brown</u>, 130 Nev. at ___, 331 P.3d at 869, the Nevada Supreme Court unambiguously held that "a petitioner has no constitutional right to post-conviction counsel and that post-conviction counsel's performance does not constitute good cause to excuse the procedural bars *under NRS 34.726(1) or NRS 34.810* unless the appointment of that counsel was mandated by statute." (emphasis added). That <u>Brown</u> involved both procedural bars does not alter the legal conclusion that a claim of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel is insufficient to establish good cause to overcome *either* procedural bar. While Harris is correct in noting that <u>Brown</u> involved a successive petition under NRS 34.810(2), he ignores the fact that it also involved an untimely petition under NRS 34.726(1). <u>Id.</u> And, significantly, the Court in <u>Brown</u> explicitly held that the petitioner's claim of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel was insufficient to overcome *either* procedural bar. <u>Id.</u> at

____, 331 P.3d at 875 ("Based on the foregoing, we conclude that Brown's petition was barred *as untimely and successive* and that he did not demonstrate good cause and prejudice to overcome *the procedural bars*." (emphasis added)).

The fact that the Nevada Supreme Court and Nevada Court of Appeals have rejected claims of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel in cases involving only NRS 34.726(1)'s procedural bar further undermines Harris' argument. See e.g., Lay v. State, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 234, *3-4, 2016 WL 1567148 (Nev. 2016) ("As such, the district court properly concluded that [appellant] did not overcome NRS 34.726(1)'s one-year time-bar because he had no constitutional or statutory right to counsel when [counsel] represented him, and therefore, [appellant] did not have a right to the effective assistance of counsel."); see also Scott v. State, 2016 Nev. App. LEXIS 221, 2016 WL 2943989 (Nev. Ct. App. 2016).1

In his attempt to establish good cause to excuse his late filing, Harris also relies heavily on the Nevada Supreme Court's decision in <u>Hathaway v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 248, 71 P.3d 503 (2003). AOB at 37-38, 41. In <u>Hathaway</u>, the petitioner argued that he had good cause to excuse NRS 34.726(1)'s procedural bar because he

¹ Citation to 2016 unpublished opinions as persuasive authority is permissible pursuant to NRAP 36(c)(3). <u>See also MB Am., Inc. v. Alaska Pac. Leasing Co.</u>, 132 Nev. ___, __, 367 P.3d 1286, 1292, n.1 (2016) (Feb. 4, 2016) (allowing citation to unpublished orders, entered on or after January 1, 2016, for their persuasive value).

believed that his attorney was pursuing a direct appeal and did not learn about his attorney's failure to file such an appeal until after the one-year deadline had expired. Id. at 250, 71 P.3d at 505. The Court agreed that "[t]rial counsel is ineffective if he or she fails to file a direct appeal after a defendant has requested or expressed a desire for a direct appeal" and set out a three-part test for district courts to apply when evaluating an allegation of good cause based upon a petitioner's mistaken belief that counsel had filed a direct appeal: (1) the petitioner must actually believe that his counsel was pursuing a direct appeal; (2) that belief must be reasonable; and (3) the post-conviction petition must be filed within a reasonable time after learning that a direct appeal had not been filed. Id. at 254-55, 71 P.3d at 507-08 (adopting the three-part test set out in Loveland v. Hatcher, 231 F.3d 640, 644 (9th Cir. 2000)).

Harris' reliance on <u>Hathaway</u> is misplaced, however. As explained by the District Court in its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order denying Harris' Petition, "<u>Hathway</u>'s holding was clearly couched in the fact that the petitioner there had a Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel *on a direct appeal*" 4 AA 917 (emphasis added). Unlike <u>Hathaway</u>, this case involves a habeas petition, not a direct appeal. And as discussed above, Harris has no right to counsel in these post-conviction proceedings. That being the case, Harris' attempt to parallel the facts of his case with those of Hathaway necessarily fails.

Based on the foregoing, this Court should find that the District Court properly concluded that Harris failed to establish good cause necessary to overcome NRS 34.726(1)'s procedural bar. In concluding his argument on why his late filing should have been excused. Harris goes on to argue that he was prejudiced. AOB at 45 ("Harris suffered actual prejudice by deprivation of his right to file for habeas relief, and by the failure to obtain meritorious determinations on the other issues contained in the Petitions. [] The errors worked to Harris' actual and substantial disadvantage by depriving him of the only chance he has to bring issues respecting his trial and appellate counsel's ineffectiveness." (internal citation omitted)). This claim, however, fails for the very reason that the underlying claims (discussed below) contained in Harris' habeas petition were not meritorious. Therefore, having failed to establish either good cause or undue prejudice. Harris failed to excuse his untimely filing.

II. Harris' Underlying Claims Cannot Substantiate Prejudice Sufficient To Ignore His Procedural Default.

Harris raises two claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. Such claims are analyzed under the two-pronged test articulated in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984), wherein the defendant must show (1) that counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. <u>Id.</u> at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064. "A court may consider the two test elements in any order and need not consider both prongs if the defendant makes

an insufficient showing on either one." <u>Kirksey v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1997); <u>Molina v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 185, 190, 87 P.3d 533, 537 (2004).

"Surmounting Strickland's high bar is never an easy task." Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 371, 130 S. Ct. 1473, 1485 (2010). The question is whether an attorney's representations amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms, "not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom." Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 88, 131 S. Ct. 770, 778 (2011). Further, "[e]ffective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is '[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.' "Jackson v. Warden, Nevada State Prison, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975) (quoting McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771, 90 S. Ct. 1441, 1449 (1970)).

The court begins with a presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was ineffective. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011-1012, 103 P.3d 25, 32-33 (2004). The role of a court in considering alleged ineffective assistance of counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." Donovan v. State, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584

P.2d 708, 711 (1978) (citing <u>Cooper v. Fitzharris</u>, 551 F.2d 1162, 1166 (9th Cir. 1977)).

This analysis does not indicate that the court should "second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics, nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of success." <u>Donovan</u>, 94 Nev. at 675, 584 P.2d at 711 (citing <u>Cooper</u>, 551 F.2d at 1166 (9th Cir. 1977)). In essence, the court must "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066. However, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make futile objections, file futile motions, or for failing to make futile arguments. <u>Ennis v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006).

Not only must the petitioner show that counsel was incompetent, but he must also demonstrate that but for that incompetence the results of the proceeding would have been different:

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